**IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF IOWA
NO. 21-1211**

***State of Iowa,
Plaintiff-Appellee,***

v.

***Benjamin Trane,
Defendant-Appellant,***

***APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR LEE COUNTY (SOUTH),
HONORABLE MARK KRUSE***

***DEFENDANT/APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR
ORAL ARGUMENT***

***Alfredo Parrish
Parrish Kruidenier Dunn Gentry
Brown Bergmann & Messamer L.L.P.
2910 Grand Avenue
Des Moines, Iowa 50312
Telephone: (515) 284-5737
Facsimile: (515) 284-1704
Email: aparrish@parrishlaw.com
ATTORNEY FOR
DEFENDANT/APPELLANT***

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Did the District Court abuse its discretion by concluding that, by a preponderance of the evidence, K.S. had not made prior false claims of sexual abuse supported by substantial evidence?

Cases

*Concrete Pipe & Prods. Of Cal., Inc. v. Constr. Laborers Pension Trust
for S. Cal.*, 508 U.S. 602 (1993)

Graham v. Chicago & N.W. Ry. Co., 119 N.W. 708 (1909)

Holliday v. Rain & Hail L.L.C., 690 N.W.2d 59 (Iowa 2004)

In re P.C., 886 N.W.2d 108 (Iowa Ct. App. 2016)

Matter of Jenkins, 503 N.W.2d 425 (Iowa 1993)

State v. Alberts, 722 N.W.2d 402 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Allen, 348 N.W.2d 243 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Dudley, 856 N.W.2d 668 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Fox, 491 N.W.2d 527 (Iowa 1992)

State v. Grant, 722 N.W.2d 645 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Greene, 592 N.W.2d 24 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Hartman, 871 N.W.2d 127 (Iowa Ct. App. 2015)

State v. Myers, 382 N.W.2d 91 (Iowa 1986)

State v. Plain, 898 N.W.2d 801 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Sanford, 814 N.W.2d 611 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Smith, 508 N.W.2d 101 (Iowa 1993)

State v. Trane, 934 N.W.2d 447 (Iowa 2019)

II. Did the District Court abuse its sound discretion in failing to recuse itself?

Cases

In re Marriage of Herum, 924 N.W.2d 537 (Iowa Ct. App. 2018)

In re Marriage of Rosonke, 929 N.W.2d 274 (Iowa Ct. App. 2019)

State v. Dudley, 856 N.W.2d 668 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Mann, 512 N.W.2d 528 (Iowa 1994)

State v. Millsap, 704 N.W.2d 426 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Trane, 934 N.W.2d 447 (Iowa 2019)

II. Did the District Court commit clear error by conducting a Rule 5.412 hearing contrary to the Iowa Rules of Evidence and the Iowa Supreme Court's order in *State v. Trane*?

Cases

Falczynski v. Amoco Oil Co., 533 N.W.2d 226 (Iowa 1995)

In re Det. of Pierce, 748 N.W.2d 509 (Iowa 2008)

Pippen v. State, 854 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Baker, 679 N.W.2d 7 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Dudley, 856 N.W.2d 668 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Millsap, 704 N.W.2d 426 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Mitchell, 568 N.W.2d 493 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Trane, 934 N.W.2d 447 (Iowa 2019)

Rules

Iowa R. Evid. 5.401

Iowa R. Evid. 5.403

Iowa R. Evid. 5.404

Iowa R. Evid. 5.412(2)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.412(a)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.412(b)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.412(c)

ROUTING STATEMENT

Trane’s appeal involves a remand from this Court, mandating the District Court conduct a Rule 5.412 hearing to determine whether the State’s primary witness in a sex abuse conviction had made prior false claims of sexual abuse against numerous parties. *State v. Trane*, 934 N.W.2d 447, 463 (Iowa 2019). As the second reversible error in Trane’s case, this appeal presents a “fundamental

and urgent issue[] of broad public importance”. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(d). This case also presents at least one issue of first impression regarding what information is to be considered during a Rule 5.412 hearing. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c). As such, Plaintiff requests that the Iowa Supreme Court retain this Appeal for review. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2).

CASE STATEMENT

Defendant Trane appeals the District Court’s August 12, 2021, ruling which concluded that Trane had not made a showing, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the State’s key witness in his criminal trial had made prior false accusations of sexual assault. The District Court was ordered on November 26, 2019, in *State v. Trane* to conduct a Rule 5.412 hearing and grant Trane a new trial on all of his criminal charges if the District Court concluded as a result of the Rule 5.412 hearing that by a preponderance of the evidence K.S., the alleged victim of sexual abuse, had made prior false statements of sexual abuse. 934 N.W.2d 447, 463 (Iowa 2019). Trane asserts multiple errors.

CASE PROCEEDINGS

On September 18, 2017 Defendant Trane was charged by trial information with one count each of Sexual Abuse in the Third Degree, Sexual Exploitation by a Counselor, and Child Endangerment.¹ Trane moved for a Rule 5.412 hearing on December 11, 2017, based on newly discovered evidence that K.S., one of the alleged victims, had made prior false claims of sexual abuse. This was denied. After trial starting on December 12, 2017, Trane was convicted of the lesser included offense of Assault with Intent to Commit Sexual Abuse, an Aggravated Misdemeanor; as well as Pattern, Practice, or Scheme to Endanger in Sexual Exploitation by Counselor or Therapist, a Class D Felony; and Child Endangerment, an Aggravated Misdemeanor. These charges were not severed. Trane was sentenced to serve these sentences consecutively for a total of nine years.

After his motion for new trial was denied, he appealed to the Iowa Supreme Court. The Supreme Court ruled that his request for a Rule 5.412 hearing had been wrongfully denied and ordered the District Court to conduct the hearing on remand. If the District Court

¹ Based on the Minutes of Testimony and subsequent trial, Trane's trial counsel should have moved to sever the charge of Child Endangerment, which involved other minors in unrelated conduct.

concluded, by a preponderance of the evidence, that K.S. had made prior false claims of sexual assault, Trane was to be granted a new trial on all counts. *Trane*, 934 N.W.2d at 463. Otherwise, his convictions were to remain.

After delays including a Motion to Recuse, the District Court conducted the required hearing on April 23, 2021. Mr. Trane and his spouse drove to Iowa from Idaho to appear at the Rule 5.412 hearing. On August 12, 2021, the Court entered an Order denying Trane relief under Rule 5.412, and requiring a \$75,000 bond, cash or surety. This was \$25,000 higher than the original bond set by the same District Court. A subsequent Pro Tunc Order set Trane's bond at cash or surety in the amount of \$50,000. Trane appealed.

FACTS

K.S. was born on xxxxxx xx, 19xx. At approximately age three, she was placed in foster care in the state of Oregon. (Deposition of K.S. [Hereinafter Ex. AA] at 44:18-25). At age seven she came to live with Michael and Kimberly Wolak, her biological aunt and uncle, who lived in Elm Grove, Wisconsin. (April 23, 2021 Hearing transcript [Hereinafter 5.412 Trans.], at 29:10-13). They adopted K.S. and her

older sister shortly thereafter. (*Id.*). Despite the issues the Wolaks knew existed and conflicts that K.S.'s behavior would later generate, the Wolaks willingly provided K.S. and her sister a more stable home environment. (*Id.* at 15:1-10) ("And when it became obvious that they were incapacitated--I don't know what the word is--incapacitated, or whatever you want to say--maybe not fit to parent, and we knew that . . . K.S. would need a home. We just thought, why not us?"). K.S. repeatedly engaged in rebellious behavior, including running away from home, first to Chicago, Illinois in November of 2013 and then a shorter, local abscondment. (Ex. AA at 11:20-25; 13:1-15). Wisconsin protective services interviewed K.S. after the abscondment to Chicago, as well as several other times both at home and at K.S.'s school without the Wolaks present. (*Id.* at 13:7-13; 18:1-25; 19:1-12); (5.412 Trans. at 67:5-9). At no time during any interview or investigation by Wisconsin Child Protection Services did K.S. make a single accusation of sexual abuse against the Wolaks. (Ex. AA at 18:17-25; 19: 8-12); (5.412 Trans. at 66:1-15).

Child service workers in Wisconsin expressed concern to the Wolaks about the nature of K.S.'s behavior and counseled them to

install cameras in their home to document any claims K.S. might make. (5.412 Trans. 23:15-24; 37: 1-9). Also on recommendation of WCPS, the Wolaks took K.S. for a mental health evaluation to determine the underlying cause of K.S.'s delinquent conduct, during which time she was individually evaluated by a mental health professional. (*Id.* at 37:1-6; Ex. AA at 23: 23-25; 24:1-8). After K.S.'s continued rebellious conduct and her second time running away from home, the Wolaks were forced to seek additional outside assistance and enrolled K.S. at Midwest Academy, a youth academy and boarding school run by Defendant Trane. Prior to moving to Midwest Academy, K.S. had never a single accusation of sexual abuse against either of her adoptive parents. (5.412 Trans. at 66:1-15).

Upon arrival, K.S. reported that she was “hurt” by her adoptive parents’ actions, and “made [it] clear” that she did not want to have contact with them. (Ex. AA at 49: 19-25). At the Academy, K.S. immediately engaged in problematic behaviors, including trying to manipulate staff (her family rep, Callie Peterson). (*Id.* at 34:21-23; 35:14-19). K.S. chose to report to Ms. Peterson—the staff member she was accused of manipulating—that the Wolaks had sexually and

physically abused her. (*Id.* at 42: 6-21; 43:15-18). As a result, K.S. was allowed off campus for interviews with DHS, escorted by Ms. Peterson. (*Id.* at 45: 25; 46:1-4).

This conduct escalated to a sufficient degree that, as director of the school, Trane became directly involved, replacing Ms. Peterson as K.S.'s treating counselor. (2017 Trial transcript [Hereinafter TT]7 at 295:20–22) (“some statements were made [by K.S.] concerning foster care and [K.S.’s] parents that forced [Trane] to get involved.”). K.S.’s behavior remained manageable; however, in November 2015 Defendant Trane denied K.S. a pass to go off campus for Thanksgiving the week prior to the holiday. (*Id.* at 327:18–24; 328:15-25 (noting the denial occurred “on the 17th, 18th or 19th”). Her behavior became erratic. Possibly as early as November 24, 2015 K.S. began reporting to staff monitoring her that she was uncomfortable around Trane, and on December 1, 2015 K.S. made her first report of sexual abuse against Trane to Midwest Academy staff, including Jane Riter and Cindy Crew. (TT5 at 18:13–18; 60:6–20; TT7 at 149: 1-15; 160:11–19; 163: 23-25; 164:1–19).

An investigation by police and Iowa DHS followed, including several interviews with DHS personnel. During these interviews, K.S. again asserted that she had been subject to prior sexual abuse by the Wolaks, as well as her foster family in Oregon. K.S. described each episode of sexual abuse as being nearly identical. In each case, against each alleged offender, K.S. claimed that one offender had sexually abused her while either a confederate or automated camera system recorded the abuse. (Ex. AA at 21:15-22; 43:18; 44:10-25; 45:15-17; 65:17-21; 94: 2-25; 95:1-25).

Specifically, K.S. claimed that she was recorded engaging in sex acts with her foster family in Oregon. (*Id.* at 65:17-18). K.S. then claimed that once she was adopted and placed in an entirely different home, she was also recorded engaging in sex acts with the Wolaks, now using a small tripod mounted camera. (*Id.* at 21:15-22). K.S. then finally claimed that she was recorded performing sex acts with Trane, who used a similar positioned black camera, this time with the Trane giving her verbal instructions. (*Id.* at 98:10-23). In response to claims of *three* separate instances of video recorded sex trafficking, K.S. noted police requested to conduct a non-invasive skin surface

examination to identify birth marks or skin irregularities to match her with any known victim recordings. (*Id.* at 65:13-22.) K.S. declined. (*Id.* at 65:21-22).

On the basis of these accusations Trane was charged with one count of sexual abuse in the third degree, one count of sexual exploitation by a counselor or therapist, and one unrelated count of child endangerment regarding the discipline and security of other minors. During preparations for trial, Trane's trial counsel did not depose K.S. until the day before trial. (TT1 6:17-20). At that deposition, K.S. for the first time disclosed to Trane's trial counsel her prior accusations of sexual assault against her foster parents and the Wolaks. Within hours of completing the deposition and confirming with the Wolaks that the allegations were false, trial counsel filed a rule 5.412 motion to present evidence of these prior false accusations. (App. 4). The District Court denied these motions claiming they were "untimely, and even if timely, the information would not show that the statements are false, based on a preponderance of the evidence." (TT2 242:22-243:10; App. 28).

Denied the ability to present K.S.'s prior false claims of sexual abuse at trial, Trane was convicted of the lesser included offense of Assault with Intent to Commit Sexual Abuse based "on the relative credibility of K.S. and Trane". *Trane*, 934 N.W.2d at 463. This conviction of a lesser included offense "was arguably a compromise verdict" based on the difficulty sorting Trane's denials and K.S.'s graphic claims, absent any other actual evidence of a crime. *Id.* at 454, n. 5. His conviction on the remaining counts was likewise controlled by the District Court's error. *Id.* (noting that there was a "risk that all three verdicts could have been affected by the limits on Trane's ability to present a defense").

Trane appealed. The Iowa Supreme Court Opinion agreed with Trane that his Rule 5.412 hearing request had been improperly denied. *Id.* The Supreme Court remanded the case to the District Court, with orders to conduct a Rule 5.412 hearing in order "to determine whether [K.S.] made these statements and if so, whether they are false." *Id.* at 463. If successful, he would be granted a new trial on all counts. *Id.*

On remand, Trane initially obtained the Wolaks for testimony, and moved to conduct the hearing via Zoom as was the emerging best practice during the height of the COVID-19 pandemic, and to accommodate the Wolak's concern for virus transmission. (App. 22); (App. 36-37); see also (App. 11, para 2) (Trial court discretion to conduct nonjury trials or accept specific testimony by videoconference or telephone with the parties' consent). Both Wolaks were in a vulnerable population for virus transmission due to their age, and interstate travel without quarantine was a specific risk to them and others due to possible asymptomatic transfer. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, SCIENCE BRIEF: OPTIONS TO REDUCE QUARANTINE FOR CONTACTS OF PERSONS WITH SARS-CoV-2 INFECTION USING SYMPTOM MONITORING AND DIAGNOSTIC TESTING, available at <https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/more/scientific-brief-options-to-reduce-quarantine.html> (updated December 2, 2020). Trane likewise moved for the District Court to recuse itself, based on its prior bias towards him. (App. 27). These Motions were resisted by the State and denied by the Court. (App. 38).

Trane obtained an Iowa Court Order for an out of state subpoena on the Wolaks, and secured an out of state subpoena by hiring a lawyer in Wisconsin requiring the Wolaks to appear. After the order was obtained in Wisconsin requiring them to appear, the Wolaks agreed to appear and testify without personal service of the subpoena. After delays, the hearing was held on April 23, 2021. Trane provided testimony from Mr. and Ms. Wolak and the State called K.S. Trane also submitted the transcript of K.S.'s earlier deposition.

Both Mr. and Ms. Wolak were emphatic, adamant, and direct in denial of allegations of sexual abuse, clearly articulating the allegations by K.S. were false. The Wolaks outlined their background, relationship with K.S., education, and employment. (App. 62) [Hereinafter Ruling]. Finally, Ms. Wolak noted she retained no animus against K.S., despite the nature of her accusations against them. Ms. Wolak noted specifically that despite the false allegations, she still wanted to maintain a relationship with K.S. (5.412 Trans. at 50:13-25; 51:1-12).

During defense counsel's direct examination of Mr. Wolak, the State interrupted Mr. Wolak to inform him that continued testimony would put him at risk of prosecution for a high-level felony sex offense, before the Mr. Wolak provided testimony contradicting K.S. (5.412 Trans. at 16:20-25; 17:1-4). Defense counsel objected to this conduct by the prosecutor, noting its intent and purpose was to intimidate the witness and suppress testimony. (*Id.* at 17:5-16). The District Court overruled this objection, cautioning the witness and informing him of his Fifth Amendment rights. (*Id.* at 17:17-25; 18: 1-3). Despite this Mr. Wolak stridently, consistently, and accurately testified that K.S.'s accusations of were false, that no such sexual abuse had occurred, and that the Wolaks would have testified similarly if they had been given the opportunity to testify at Mr. Trane's original trial.

The State called K.S. as a witness. K.S. repeated her false claims against the Wolaks. Under cross examination, she was unable to properly recall the sequence of events she had previously reported. Specifically, she was unable to recall when the alleged abuse occurred, contradicting her prior deposition testimony. (Compare Ex.

AA at 20:11-25; 21:1, with 5.412 Trans. at 85:8-13) (noting different starting points for the alleged abuse, pre- and post- puberty).

K.S made mistakes in her timeline of reporting, stating she had never made a claim of abuse against the Wolaks prior to attending Midwest Academy, in direct contrast to her prior statements. (Compare Ex. AA at 10:1-6 with 5.412 Trans. at 66:13-21). Notably, K.S. contradicts herself even during her deposition, claiming to have previously reported the Wolaks to the police, and then denying it (Ex. AA at 10:1-6; 21:2-3). Likewise, she was unable to articulate her failure to provide certain supposed evidence of abuse by the Wolaks to police, claiming that recordings K.S. herself had made of the alleged abuse were locked on an iPod in police possession, because she forgot the password. (5.412 Trans. at 83:6-25; 84:1-9). She had not made prior reference to this evidence in support of her allegations. While K.S. claimed that this detail eluded her because it was Trane and not the Wolaks on trial, police nonetheless inquired, and K.S. failed to provide support. (*Id.* at 84:1-9).

K.S.'s contradictory, inconsistent and unconvincing testimony, combined with her history of making strikingly similar claims of

sexual abuse—including venue, format, and style—against individuals who had recently angered or wronged her, made her claims of prior sexual abuse against the Wolaks unbelievable. Despite these obvious contradictions, inconsistencies, and fabrications, the District Court erroneously concluded otherwise, reinstating Trane’s sentence in an order on August 12, 2021. The District Court took the added step of initially increasing Trane’s bond to \$75,000 cash or surety, despite the lack of any risk of flight or misconduct in the years he has been free.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Review of a District Court’s determination of admissibility of evidence under Iowa Rule of Evidence 5.412 (the rape shield rule) is for abuse of discretion. *State v. Alberts*, 722 N.W.2d 402, 407–08 (Iowa 2006). Reversal is warranted when the grounds for admission or denial are “clearly untenable or clearly unreasonable.” *State v. Plain*, 898 N.W.2d 801, 811 (Iowa 2017). A court’s reasoning is untenable if it is “based on an erroneous application of the law or not

supported by substantial evidence.” *State v. Dudley*, 856 N.W.2d 668, 675 (Iowa 2014).

Likewise, a district court must recuse itself if by an objective reasonable person standard, its impartiality might be reasonably questioned. *State v. Mann*, 512 N.W.2d 528, 532 (Iowa 1994). This determination is left to the “sound discretion of the court”, and in order to constate reversible error, actual prejudice must be shown. *Mann*, 512 N.W.2d at 532; *State v. Millsap*, 704 N.W.2d 426, 432 (Iowa 2005).

ARGUMENT

A. District Court’s conclusion after holding a Rule 5.412 hearing that K.S. had not by a preponderance of the evidence made prior false claims of sexual abuse is not supported by substantial evidence

The District Court was tasked with determining “whether [K.S.] made these statements [alleging prior sexual assault] and if so, whether they are false”. *Trane*, 934 N.W.2d at 463. The *Trane* court, in accordance with its prior ruling in *State v. Alberts*, took the affirmative step of concluding that the “evidence concerning the prior

false allegations—if indeed they were false—was relevant and important, and its probative value outweighed the danger of unfair prejudice”. *Id.* at 462–63. The District Court was not ordered to conduct a jury trial, or to review the entire proceedings of the case, or even to assess K.S.’s prior trial testimony in light of Trane’s witnesses. The District Court had the singular duty of conducting a Rule 5.412 hearing according to Iowa law and the Supreme Court’s remand regarding K.S.’s false report of prior sexual abuse, to determine if Trane could meet his burden by a preponderance of the evidence. *Id.*

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