IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA  
Supreme Court No. 21-1211

---

STATE OF IOWA,  
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

BENJAMIN TRANE,  
Defendant-Appellant.

---

ATTEMPTED APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR LEE (SOUTH) COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE MARK KRUSE, JUDGE

---

**APPELLEE'S BRIEF**

---

THOMAS J. MILLER  
Attorney General of Iowa

**TYLER J. BULLER**  
Assistant Attorney General  
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
(515) 281-5976  
(515) 281-4902 (fax)  
[tyler.buller@ag.iowa.gov](mailto:tyler.buller@ag.iowa.gov)

MAUREEN HUGHES  
Assistant Attorney General

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

**

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

## ARGUMENT

- I. This attempted appeal should be dismissed. The defendant does not appeal a final judgment of sentence. He has not sought extraordinary review and such review is not warranted.**

### **Preservation of Error/Standard of Review**

These sections are not applicable to an appellate motion to dismiss.

### **Merits**

This attempted appeal should be dismissed because the order at issue is not appealable as a matter of right and because the defendant has not sought any form of extraordinary review. As a result, this Court lacks jurisdiction.

This matter is before the Court following a remand from the direct appeal. This Court “conditionally remand[ed]” the case and provided two alternate outcomes to terminate the litigation, depending on the district court’s findings:

1. “If false allegations were made, then Trane is entitled to a new trial”; or
2. “If Trane does not make this showing [that false allegations were made], then his convictions and sentence should be affirmed.”

*State v. Trane*, 934 N.W.2d 447, 466 (Iowa 2019). The district court executed the remand, finding that “the defendant has not shown, by a

preponderance of the evidence, that K.S. made false allegations of sexual abuse[.]” Ruling, p. 13; App. 63 (emphasis original). The Court ordered that the convictions were “affirmed” and that the defendant “stands convicted,” in compliance with the second alternative. Ruling pp. 12–13; App. 62–63.

The remand order affirming the convictions is not a “final judgment of sentence” as that term is used in the Code section regulating criminal appeals taken by a defendant. *See* Iowa Code § 814.6(1)(a). The defendant already took the direct appeal he was afforded following conviction, which resulted in the 2019 Supreme Court proceedings. This hearing on remand did not result in a new final judgment, but instead “affirmed” the convictions and sentences, pursuant to this Court’s remand. *Trane*, 934 N.W.2d at 466. Neither the State nor the defendant may appeal a post-sentence ruling as a matter of right. *See State v. Anderson*, 246 N.W.2d 277, 279 (Iowa 1976) (only judgment appealable as a matter of right by defendant is sentencing order); *State v. Coughlin*, 200 N.W.2d 525, 526 (Iowa 1972) (no appeal for either party from motion-for-new-trial ruling that was not part of final judgment of sentence). The ruling at issue is not governed by section 814.6(1)(a) because it was not a final

judgment of sentence and, because the defendant has not sought or obtained any form of extraordinary review, this attempted appeal should be dismissed.

Because the State will not have the opportunity to sur-reply to any subsequent filing by the defendant, the State acknowledges the district court expressed some confusion over its role in determining appealability, setting an appeal bond, and issuing mittimus. *See* Ruling, pp. 13–14; App. 63–64. The State urged that mittimus should issue immediately if the convictions were affirmed. *See* State’s Brief on Remand, pp. 14–15. The district court noted that “[t]he wording of the Supreme Court opinion and Procedendo give support to the State’s position” but speculated that this Court may have intended further appeals. *See* PCR Ruling, p. 14; App. 64. The district court noted that “any appeal can be denied” by this Court, which seems to correctly recognize that this Court—not the district court—is the ultimate arbiter of appellate jurisdiction. PCR Ruling, p. 14; App. 64; *see State v. Tucker*, 959 N.W.2d 140, 149 (Iowa 2021) (“Our appellate jurisdiction must be exercised according to law. It is our duty to reject an appeal not authorized by statute.” (internal citations and quotation marks omitted)).

Had this Court intended to authorize an appeal from the remand or retain jurisdiction, it knows how to say so. *See State v. Johnson*, 272 N.W.2d 480, 485 (Iowa 1978) (“Defendant’s right to appeal from the trial court’s in camera determination is preserved.”); *State v. Hall*, 235 N.W.2d 702, 731 (Iowa 1975) (“defendant’s right to appeal from the trial court’s in camera determination is preserved”). The existence of this language in *Johnson* and *Hall* confirms that, absent such a preservation, there is no appeal as a matter of right. This Court’s remand in *Trane* did not expressly or impliedly preserve a right to appeal from the remand ruling, nor did the Court retain jurisdiction. *Trane*, 934 N.W.2d at 466. The defendant did not petition for rehearing to modify the remand and secure the inclusion of such language. The remand directive from *Trane* is law of the case, it contemplated a termination of litigation if the district court affirmed the convictions, and no appeal is authorized here. *See id.*

To the extent the Court considers any belated attempt by the defendant to invoke appellate jurisdiction by means of a writ or other extraordinary means, the Court should reject the claim. This case ultimately concerns a question of credibility: the witnesses at the remand hearing gave conflicting testimony and the district court



entered a lengthy ruling making credibility findings to resolve the conflict. *See* Ruling; App. 51–64. As the Eighth Circuit has said, and this Court has cited with approval, “The district court’s findings regarding a witness’ credibility are virtually unreviewable on appeal.” *United States v. Kime*, 99 F.3d 870, 885 (8th Cir. 1996); *see State v. Hickman*, 576 N.W.2d 364, 367 (Iowa 1998) (citing the former with approval). And to the extent the defendant may petition for certiorari, the writ cannot be used to decide questions that were not preserved below. *See Sorci v. Iowa Dist. Ct.*, 671 N.W.2d 482, 490 (Iowa 2003); Division IV (all claims of evidentiary error in the proceedings were unpreserved). This Court’s limited judicial resources are not appropriately devoted to hearing unpreserved claims or second-guessing the credibility of witnesses on a cold record, and thus extraordinary review is not appropriate.

There is no appeal as a matter of right in this case pursuant to section 814.6(1)(a) because the defendant does not appeal a final judgment of sentence. The defendant has not sought, and should not receive, review by means of this Court’s extraordinary jurisdiction. As a result, this attempted appeal should be dismissed.

**II. The district court’s ruling on the credibility of witnesses is essentially unreviewable. To the extent review is proper, the district court’s ruling was supported by substantial evidence.**

**Preservation of Error**

The State does not contest error preservation on the sufficiency of the evidence to support the district court’s ruling on remand.

**Standard of Review**

The crux of the defendant’s claim is about which witness(es) the district court should have found credible. “The district court’s findings regarding a witness’ credibility are virtually unreviewable on appeal.” *United States v. Kime*, 99 F.3d 870, 885 (8th Cir. 1996); see *State v. Hickman*, 576 N.W.2d 364, 367 (Iowa 1998) (citing the former with approval).

To the extent the defendant also challenges the sufficiency of the evidence overall, review is for correction of errors at law. The evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the State and all reasonable inferences must be drawn to uphold the verdict or ruling. *State v. Leckington*, 713 N.W.2d 208, 212-13 (Iowa 2006). A fact-finder is “free to believe or disbelieve any testimony as it chooses and to give as much weight to the evidence as, in its judgment, such evidence should receive.” *State v. Liggins*, 557 N.W.2d 263, 269

(Iowa 1996). A bench verdict supported by substantial evidence is “binding” on this Court. *State v. Torres*, 495 N.W.2d 678, 681 (Iowa 1993).

### **Merits**

The defendant first challenges whether the district court’s ruling is supported by “substantial evidence.” Appellant’s Br. at 23. To the extent this is not an outright challenge to credibility, which is beyond the province of appellate courts to decide, the defendant’s claim appears to be synonymous with analyzing whether the evidence was sufficient to support the ruling, as discussed in the preceding standard-of-review section. Under this standard of review or anything like it, the defendant’s complaints are meritless.

The district court, like any other fact-finder, was free to credit some witnesses and discredit others. *Liggins*, 557 N.W.2d at 269. The court’s ruling reflects that the court found K.S.’s testimony compelling and the Wolaks’ less persuasive. *See* Ruling, pp. 8–12; App. 58–62. While the defendant may personally believe the Wolaks were more believable than K.S., he identifies no error beyond mere disagreement with the court’s finding to the contrary. *See* Appellant’s Proof Br. at 25–40. All of the defendant’s claims are arguments that

he could and did make to the fact-finder below; that the court rejected the defendant's arguments and evidence in favor of the State's is no basis for relief.

The first particularized complaint is a general assertion that the defendant believes the court should have believed the Wolaks' denials instead of K.S.'s testimony. Appellant's Proof Br. at 27–30. The defendant does not actually identify any legal error throughout these pages of his briefing. *Id.* The closest he comes is a complaint about factors that arguably weighed somewhat in favor of the Wolaks' credibility, but even the defendant admits the court gave weight to these factors—the defendant just wishes it had been more weight. Appellant's Proof Br. at 29. At one point, the defendant seems to suggest the district court should have believed Michael Wolak's testimony because the State elected to not cross-examine him. Appellant's Proof Br. at 29. But this proves nothing. Experienced trial attorneys can reasonably decide when cross-examination is unnecessary, as evidenced by the district court's findings that Michael Wolak's direct testimony lacked detail and was generally unpersuasive. Ruling, p. 12; App. 62.

Next, the defendant complains that the district court should not have believed K.S. Appellant’s Proof Br. at 30–34. These complaints, again, are the kind of factual questions entrusted to fact-finders (whether judge or jury) in courtrooms across this state every day. The core thrust of the defendant’s complaint is that he finds K.S.’s assertion that she was sexually abused multiple times, by multiple offenders, “bizarre” and allegedly “press[ing] the boundaries of probability.” Appellant’s Proof Br. at 31. The legal basis for this argument is *State v. Smith*, 508 N.W.2d 101, 104–05 (Iowa Ct. App. 1993), a 2–1 decision of the Court of Appeals that is an aberration and relic of a time less-enlightened about the dynamics of sexual abuse. Appellant’s Proof Br. at 31.

In short, *Smith* is wrongly decided, its holding parades rape myths as legal analysis, and its continued citation by defense attorneys evidences why it needs to be formally overruled. *See State v. Atkins*, No. 20-0488, 2021 WL 3895198, at \*3 n.4 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 1, 2021) (acknowledging criticism of *Smith*, declining to extend its reasoning to the case at issue, opting not to reach the question of “*Smith*’s continued vitality”); *State v. Cardona*, No. 19-1047, 2020 WL 1888770, at \*2 n.1 (Iowa Ct. App. April 15, 2020) (same,

“leav[ing] for another day the question of *Smith*’s continued salience”). Though much could be said about *Smith*’s deficiencies, the core errors are “that *Smith* denigrated the testimony of sexual abuse victims, including by ignoring the phenomenon of victim grooming, requiring unrealistic descriptions of sex acts from child victims, and crediting an absence of enduring genital injury as more probative than a victim’s testimony.” *Cardona*, 2020 WL 1888770, at \*2 n.1 (paraphrasing the State’s argument). These errors have no place in published appellate opinion.

In any event, however, *Smith* affords the defendant no relief here. No Iowa appellate court has subsequently cited *Smith* as a basis to grant relief in a sexual abuse prosecution, and this case should not be the first. The district court’s ruling includes a detailed rationale for finding K.S. credible and, though he may disagree with the court’s conclusion, the defendant cannot identify any legal error therein.

Looking beyond the facts, *Smith* is also inapplicable here because it was a case in which the State bore the burden of proof, not the defendant; here the defendant was required to prove the falsity of the statements by a preponderance of the evidence, unlike *Smith* where the State had to rely on the statements to prove guilt beyond a

reasonable doubt. *Smith*, to the extent it correctly states any law, provides the defendant no help.

Throughout the discussion of K.S.'s testimony, the defendant's brief views the evidence in the light most favorable to the Wolaks' innocence, rather than—as the standard of review requires—the light most favorable to the State. For example:

- The defendant urges that K.S.'s repeat victimization renders her testimony suspect, while the State's position is that many pedophilic offenders select their victims based on whether the victims will be believed by authorities when they disclose the abuse. Appellant's Proof Br. at 30–31. As a result, this defendant and other abusers likely perceived K.S. as an ideal target for their sexual abuse, given her history and the likelihood uneducated persons would consider her “damaged goods” or otherwise unbelievable.
- The defendant also faults K.S.—who was a preteen or teen when abused—for her inability to provide recordings or video evidence of the abuse. Appellant's Proof Br. at 31–32. K.S. had no duty to secure evidence supporting her report of abuse. And perhaps more importantly, K.S. had little to no agency while living with the Wolaks or detained at Midwest Academy under the control of her abuser, and it is thus unsurprising that any corroborative evidence K.S. may have been once able to supply is no longer available.
- Finally, the defendant posits that K.S. should not be believed because it is not credible that child protective services in multiple states “fail[ed] to detect this abuse.” Appellant's Proof Br. at 32. Regrettably, any experienced practitioner in this area of the law knows that DHS and its analogues in other states routinely fail to detect abuse,

whether due to staffing shortages, poor training, bad screening criteria, etc. This argument does not support the defendant's prayer for relief.

In short, these attempts to undermine K.S.'s testimony may have been proper to present in argument to the district court while weighing the evidence, but it does not make out a prima facie claim for reversal on appeal.

Third, the defendant claims that the district court's "interpretation of the evidence ... was biased in K.S.'s favor." Appellant's Proof Br. at 34. This claim is not actually grounded in the law and should be disregarded entirely. A jury is not "biased" because they accept the testimony of a rape victim over the accused, nor was the district court "biased" in this case for believing K.S. rather than the Wolaks. The defendant again cites *Smith*, a pernicious divided decision that denigrates rape victims in a way that would be preposterous in the context of any other criminal offense. Appellant's Proof Br. at 35. He also draws on *Graham*, the case the bare majority in *Smith* relied on. Appellant's Proof Br. at 35. But that case is dissimilar to this one.

In *Graham*—the matter's second trip to the Iowa Supreme Court—a witness gave a version of events at a second trial that was



“self-contradictory” and “so manifestly insincere and absurd that no person could candidly believe it.” *Graham v. Chicago & N.W. Ry. Co.*, 119 N.W. 708, 710–11 (Iowa 1909). Unlike the *Graham* court looking at a general verdict from a jury, we know here that K.S.’s testimony was *not* insincere: the district court explained its rationale for believing her, which is important context in reviewing this cold record. *See* Ruling, pp. 11–12; App. 61–62. The defendant cannot credibly assert that no person could candidly believe K.S.’s testimony. The district court’s ruling thoroughly evaluated the evidence presented and concluded the defendant did not meet his burden. *See* Ruling; App. 51–64.

The defendant also urges in this portion of his briefing that the district court “ignored evidence.” Appellant’s Br. at 36. But the ruling belies this statement. The district court expressly acknowledged the arguments made by the defendant, giving them some weight—but apparently not as much weight as the defendant wishes. *See* Ruling, p. 11; App. 61. The defendant cites no authority suggesting that he can obtain reversal merely because he (or this Court) might have weighed the credibility of witnesses somewhat differently. He is not entitled to relief.

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